From the Department of Medicine, Division of Hematology, Karolinska Institutet and Karolinska University Hospital Solna, Stockholm, Sweden

# TELOMERASE REVERSE TRANSCRIPTASE (TERT): PROMOTER MUTATION AND NOVEL FUNCTION IN HUMAN CANCER

TIANTIAN LIU

刘甜甜





Stockholm 2014

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher. Published by Karolinska Institutet.

© Tiantian Liu, 2014 ISBN 978-91-7549-550 -7

Printed by REPROPRINT AB Stockholm 2014 www.reproprint.se Gårdsvägen 4, 169 70 Solna



### Institutionen för Medicin, Solna

Telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT): Promoter mutation and novel function in human cancer

Akademisk avhandling

Som avläggande av medicine doktorsexamen vid Karolinska Institutet offentligen försvaras föreläsningssalen på CMM, L8:00

### Tisdagen den 10 Juni 2014, kl. 9.00

## <sup>By</sup> Tiantian Liu

Principal Supervisor:OppDocent Dawei XuProfKarolinska InstitutetUnivDepartment of MedicineUSADivision of HematologyDepCo-supervisor:CenProfessor Magnus BjörkholmExalKarolinska InstitutetProfDepartment of MedicineKarolinska Institutet

*Opponent:* Professor Trygve Tollefsbol University of Alabama at Birmingham, USA Department of Comprehensive Cancer Center

*Examination Board:* Professor Tomas Ekström Karolinska Institute Department of Clinical Neuroscience

Professor Ann-Kristin Östlund Farrants Stockholm University Department of Molecular Bioscience

Professor Yuli Zang Shandong University Department of Nursing School

### Stockholm 2014

In memory of my father

## ABSTRACT

Telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT) is the catalytic component of telomerase, an RNAdependent DNA polymerase responsible for telomere elongation. TERT is transcriptionally repressed in most normal human somatic cells with limited life-span, which contributes to telomerase silence. It is well established that maintenance of telomere length is essential to cellular immortalization and malignant transformation, and predominantly achieved through TERT induction and subsequent telomerase activation. Evidence has also accumulated that, apart from its canonical telomerelengthening function, telomerase or TERT exhibits many other biological activities, thereby promoting cancer progression. Given its critical role in cancer formation and differential expression between normal and malignant cells, TERT/telomerase has been suggested as a novel cancer diagnostic marker and therapeutic target. To rationally develop these telomerase-based clinical applications, it is a demanding task to gain profound insights into the regulatory mechanism underlying cancer-specific TERT expression or telomerase activation, and to delineate various roles of TERT/telomerase in cancer development/progression. My thesis thus focuses on these important issues. Specifically, I sought to determine: (i) the biological role and clinical implication of the somatic TERT promoter mutation, and (ii) the regulatory effect of TERT on the oncogenic factor cyclooxygenase2 (COX2) in human cancer.

The somatic TERT promoter mutation, initially identified in malignant melanoma, stimulates *TERT* gene transcription and activates telomerase. To see whether this genetic event occurs in the pathogenesis of thyroid and gastric cancer, we sequenced the TERT promoter region in tumor specimens derived from patients with premalignant thyroid lesions, thyroid and gastric cancer (papers I, II and III). A moderate to high frequency of TERT promoter mutations was observed in follicular cell-derived but not in parathyroid C cell-derived thyroid cancer. The mutation was correlated with senior age, shorter telomere length, aggressive disease and shorter disease-specific survival in thyroid cancer. Importantly, we found the mutation in a fraction (up to 17%) of premalignant thyroid lesions, coupled with TERT and telomerase expression, which indicates that TERT promoter mutations are early genetic events in thyroid carcinogenesis. In contrast, none of tumors from 200 patients with gastric cancer harbored TERT promoter mutations, suggesting different mechanisms for telomerase activation in gastric cancer.

One of non-canonical TERT functions is to serve as a transcription co-factor to regulate gene expression. We thus determined whether the manipulating TERT expression affected the abundance of the oncogenic factor COX2 in cancer cells (paper IV). The inhibition of TERT in cancer cell lines using RNA interference led to a robust increase in COX2 expression at both mRNA and protein levels through a p38 MAPK signal pathway. TERT depletion alone did not affect cell survival, while the COX2 inhibitor together with TERT inhibition synergistically induced apoptosis of cancer cells. TERT depletion combined with the COX2 inhibitor administration significantly inhibited tumor growth in the mouse xenograft model of human gastric cancer. These findings reveal a novel function of TERT and have implications in telomerase-based anti-cancer therapy.

In conclusion, the TERT promoter mutation is an early genetic event activating telomerase in the thyroid carcinogenesis, and associated with the aggressive disease and serves as a useful prognostic factor in thyroid cancer. The COX2 induction by TERT inhibition likely protects cancer cells from apoptosis. Thus simultaneously targeting TERT and COX2 may have synergistic killing effects on cancer cells, thereby improving treatment efficacy in a telomerase-based anti-cancer strategy.

## LIST OF SCIENTIFIC PAPERS

- I. T Liu\*, N Wang\*, J Cao, A Sofiadis, A Dinets, J Zedenius, C Larsson and D Xu. The age- and shorter telomere-dependent TERT promoter mutation in follicular thyroid cell-derived carcinomas. Oncogene, 2013. doi: 10.1038/onc.2013.446.
- II. N Wang\*, T Liu\*, A Sofiadis, J Zedenius, A Höög, C Larsson and D Xu. *The TERT* promoter mutation as an early genetic event activating telomerase in follicular thyroid carcinogenesis. Cancer. (in press)
- III. T Liu, X Liang, M Björkholm, J Jia and D Xu. The absence of TERT promoter mutations in primary gastric cancer. Gene, 2014. 540(2): 266-267.
- IV. T Liu, X Liang, B Li, M Björkholm, J Jia and D Xu. Telomerase reverse transcriptase inhibition stimulates cyclooxygenase2 expression in cancer cells and synergizes with celecoxib to exert anti-cancer effects. Br J Cancer, 2013. 108(11): 2272-2280.

\* Contributed equally.

## **OTHER RELATED PUBLICATIONS:**

- 1. T Liu\*, T C. Brown\*, C. C Juhlin, A Andreasson, M Bäckdahl, J Healy, M L Prasad, R Korah, T Carling, D Xu and C Larsson. *The activating TERT promoter mutation C228T is recurrent in subsets of adrenal tumors*. Endocrine-related Cancer. 2014. 21 (3):427-34.
- K Wang\*, T Liu\*, L Liu\*, J Liu, C Liu, C Wang, N Ge, H Ren, K Yan, S Hu, M Björkholm, Y Fan and D Xu. *TERT Promoter Mutations in Renal Cell Carcinomas and Upper Tract Urothelial Carcinomas*. Oncotarget, 2014. 5(7):1829-1836.
- **3.** P Li, **T Liu**, J Liu, Q Zhang, F Lou, F Kong, G Cheng, M Björkholm, C Zheng and D Xu. *Promoter Polymorphism in the Serotonin Transporter (5-HTT) Gene Is Significantly Associated with Leukocyte Telomere Length in Han Chinese*. PloS ONE, 2014. 9(4): e94442.
- **4.** Z Liu, Q Li, K Li, L Chen, W Li, M Hou, **T Liu**, J Yang, C Lindvall, M Björkholm, J Jia and D Xu. *Telomerase reverse transcriptase promotes epithelial-mesenchymal transition and stem cell-like traits in cancer cells*. Oncogene, 2013. 32(36): 4203-13.

\* Contributed equally.

## CONTENTS

1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Telomere	1
1.1.1 Telomere structure	1
1.1.2 Telomere-binding proteins	1
1.1.3 Telomere shortening with cell division	1
1.1.4 Telomere function	1
1.2 Telomerase	2
1.2.1 Telomerase in normal and cancer cells	3
1.2.2 The regulation of TERT expression	3
1.2.2.1 Genetic regulation of TERT expression	3
1.2.2.2 Transcriptional regulation of the TERT gene	4
1.2.2.3 Epigenetic regulation of TERT transcription	6
1.2.2.4 Post-transcriptional/translational regulation	6
1.2.3 Telomerase function independent of telomere-lengther	ning.7
1.3 TERT promoter mutations	8
1.3.1 TERT promoter mutations - overview	8
1.3.2 TERT promoter mutations in human cancer	10
1.4 Thyroid cancer	14
1.4.1 FTA: Follicular thyroid adenoma	15
1.4.2 FTC: Follicular thyroid caricinoma	15
1.4.3 PTC: Papalliary thyroid carcinoma	15
1.4.4 ATC: Anaplastic thyroid carcinoma	16
1.4.5 MTC: Medullary thyroid carcinoma	16
1.5 Gastric cancer	16
1.5.1 Overview	16
1.5.2 The role of Cyclooxygenase2 (COX2) in cancer	17
2 AIMS OF THE STUDY	18

3 MATERIALS AND METHODS	19
3.1 Human tissue samples	19
3.1.1 Thyroid carcinoma/adenoma tissues (Paper I and II)	19
3.1.2 Gastric cancer tissues (Paper III)	19
3.2 Established human cell lines	19
3.2.1 Thyroid cancer cell lines (Paper I)	19
3.2.2 Gastric cancer and other cell lines (Paper IV)	19
3.3 DNA extraction and Sanger sequencing	20
3.4 Telomere length assessment (Paper I, II and IV)	22
3.4.1 Quantative PCR	22
3.4.2 Q-FISH	23
3.5 RNA extraction, reverse transcription and quantitative PCR	23
3.6 Telomerase activity measurement (Paper II and IV)	24
3.7 COX2 promoter activity assay (Paper IV)	24
3.8 Western blot (Paper IV)	24
3.9 Flow cytometry (Paper IV)	25
3.10 Cell culture and TERT gene knock down (Paper IV)	25
3.10.1 Small-interfering RNA (siRNA)	25
3.10.2 Lenti-viral vector construction	26
3.11 Mouse model (Paper IV)	26
4 RESULTS	27
4.1 TERT promoter mutations in cancer and their clinical implication	ation.27
4.1.1 The frequency of TERT promoter mutations in cance	r27
4.2 TERT expression and telomerase activity in FTA and AFTA	428
4.3 TERT promoter mutations and telomere length	28
4.4 TERT promoter mutations and other gene mutations	30
4.4.1 TERT promoter mutations are not associated with mutations in PTC	BRAF 30
4.4.2 TERT promoter and NRAS gene mutations in AFT	A30

4.5 TERT promoter mutations and patients' age
4.6 TERT promoter mutations and clinical characteristics
4.6.1 TERT promoter mutations in aggressive cancer
4.6.2 TERT promoter mutations and patients' prognosis32
4.7 TERT and oncogenic factor COX2 expression in cancer34
4.7.1 TERT depletion induces up-regulation of COX2 expression
in cancer cells
4.7.2 COX2 promoter is activated in TERT-depleted cells35
4.7.3 p38MAPK is involved in COX2 induction by TERTdepletion35
4.7.4 The COX2 up-regulation is independent of telomere length36
4.7.5 Synergistic apoptosis induction by inhibiting both TERT and
COX2
5 DISCUSSION
6 SUMMARY & CONCLUSION
7 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
8 REFERENCES

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AFTA	Atypical follicular thyroid adenoma	
AKT (PKB)	Protein Kinase B	
ALT	Alternative Lengthening of Telomere	
Ap1	Activator protein 1	
ATC	Anaplastic thyroid carcinoma	
COX1	Cyclooxygenase1	
COX2	Cyclooxygenase2	
CTNNB1	Beta-catenin	
ddNTP	Dideoxy-ribonucleoside triphosphate	
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid	
dNTP	Deoxy-ribonucleoside triphosphate	
DSS	Disease specific survival	
E6 AP	E6 associated protein	
EBV	Epstein-Barr virus	
ELISA	Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay	
EMT	Epithelial-mesenchymal transition	
ETS	E-twenty-six	
EWS	Ewing's sarcoma	
FBS	Fetal Bovine Serum	
FTA	Follicular thyroid adenoma	
FTC	Follicular thyroid carcinoma	
HBG	Beta-globin	
HIF-1a	Hypoxia-inducible factor 1-alpha	

HPV	Human Papillomavirus
IL-6	Interleukin-6
МАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
M-MLV	Moloney Murine Leukemia Virus
MTC	Medullary thyroid carcinoma
OS	Overall survival
PAX8	Paired box gene 8
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PI3K	Phosphoinositide 3-kinase
PPARG	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma
Rb	Retinoblastoma protein
PTC	Papillary thyroid carcinoma
PTEN	Phosphatase and tensin homolog
PVDF	Polyvinylidene difluoride
Q-FISH	Quantitative Fluorescent in situ hybridization
RBP2	Retinoblastoma binding protein 2
RIPA	Radio Immunoprecipitation Assay
RISC	RNA-induced silencing complex
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RPMI	Roswell Park Memorial Institute
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulfate
SMYD 3	SET and MYND domain-containing protein 3
Sp1	Specificity Protein 1
STAT3	Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3
TCF	Ternary Complex Factor

TERC	Telomerase RNA template
TERT	Telomerase reverse transcriptase
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor-beta
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor-alpha
TRF1	Telomeric repeat binding factor1
TSS	Transcription start site
WT1	Wilms' tumor 1

# **1. INTRODUCTION**

## 1.1 Telomere

### 1.1.1 Telomere structure

Telomere is the structure at the end of linear chromosomes. In all eukaryotes, the chromosome ends with tandem guanine-rich repeats. The human telomere sequence is  $(TTAGGG)_n$  repeats ranging from 8 to 20 kb, and is in dynamic homeostasis. [1] [2] [3] There is a 3' overhang in telomere that usually loops back and inserts into the double strand of the telomere, thereby forming the t-loop and making the chromosome more stable. [4]

### 1.1.2 Telomere-binding proteins

Telomeric DNA is associated with a specific protein complex, which is essential for maintaining the structure and functionality of telomere. The most important protein complex structure is shelterin, which includes TRF1 (TTAGGG-repeat binding factor 1), TRF2, TIN2, RAP2, TPP1 and POT1. TRF1 and TRF2 bind the double-stranded telomere and combine with the rest proteins to form a special structure at the end of chromosomes. Shelterin regulates 3' overhang and t-loop formation. [5]

### 1.1.3 Telomere shortening with cell division

In most normal human cells, the telomere length is shortened with each cell division due to lack of telomere maintenance mechanism plus the end replication problem. When telomere is shortened to a certain limit, cells will stop divide and undergo permanent growth arrest so-called replication senescence. [6, 7] Therefore, most normal human cells are incapable of dividing indefinitely.

### 1.1.4 Telomere function

Telomere helps to maintain the stability and integrity of chromosomes. Telomere and their binding proteins form special structure at the end of chromosomes, thereby protecting chromosomes from being recognized as double-stranded breaks or end-to-end fusion and suppressing DNA damage response. Telomere also prevents chromosome end degradation by excessive nuclease. Importantly, progressive telomere shortening occurs as cells divide, which serves as a mitotic clock to control cell life-span and to prevent unlimited cellular proliferation.

### **1.2 Telomerase**

Telomerase is a ribonucleoprotein enzyme that synthesizes telomeric TTAGGG repeats at the end of linear eukaryotic chromosomes. Telomerase is a RNA-dependent DNA polymerase that consists of a catalytic subunit telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT), a RNA template TERC and many other components (Figure 1). [3, 8, 9] TERC is constitutively expressed in cells whereas TERT expression is tightly regulated in time, place and quantity, which makes TERT the rate-limiting subunit of telomerase. [10] [11] Normal cells stop divide at the hayflick-limit, but tumor cells need a telomere maintenance mechanism to evade the hayflick-limit or senescence. Telomerase activation is the major mechanism for maintaining telomere length in cancer cells.



### 1.2.1 Telomerase activity and subunit expression in normal and cancer cells

Telomerase is a huge ribonucleoprotein complex with the key components of TERT and TERC (Figure 1). [12] TERT and TERC are sufficient to constitute telomerase activity *in vitro*. In most differentiated human somatic cells, telomerase activity is undetectable or very low. [13-15] However, human germline cells have telomerase activity and thus maintain stable telomere length. Stem/progenitor cells, lymphocytes, and other cells with highly proliferative potentials express various levels of telomerase activity. [15-17] TERT expression is in general associated with acquisition of telomerase activity, and introduction of TERT into telomerase-deficient cells is sufficient to activate telomerase, suggesting a key role of TERT in controlling telomerase activity. [18]

Telomerase activity is detectable in up to 90% of human malignant cells and the induction of TERT expression is a determinant step for acquisition of telomerase activity during cellular transformation as described above. [15, 17, 19] One of the key hallmarks of cancer is limitless replication potential, which is mainly achieved by TERT expression and telomerase activation. [20] Experimentally, TERT was shown to be one of essential elements for conversion of normal human cells into malignant ones. [19] Given the important role of TERT in cancer development, numerous efforts have been made to elucidate the mechanism governing TERT expression. [21, 22]

### 1.2.2 The regulation of TERT expression

The *TERT* gene was first cloned in 1997, [21] and since then, its regulation has been exclusively explored. TERT is regulated at multiple levels by numerous factors. [23-26]

### 1.2.2.1 Genetic regulation of TERT expression

**Abnormal gene copy numbers.** The *TERT* gene spans 40 kbs and is localized at chromosome 5p15.33. [25] Normal somatic cells from healthy individuals carry 2 copies of the *TERT* gene, and loss or gain of the copy numbers causes

abnormities. In Cri du chat syndrome, patients were found to have one *TERT* allele deletion, coupled with lower telomerase activity in their cells. *TERT* is haploinsufficient for telomere maintenance in these patients. [27, 28]

The gain of *TERT* gene copies occurs in human cancers, either from gain of 5p or gene amplification. Over 30% of human malignancies carry more than 3 *TERT* copies, [29, 30] which contributes to telomerase activation in those malignancies.

**TERT** gene mutations. The *TERT* gene point mutation has been found to result in many degenerative diseases, such as aplastic anemia, idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis and others. Non-synonymous *TERT* mutations cause stem cell dysfunction and lead to a low telomerase activity. [31, 32] In addition, the polymorphism or mutation at the regulatory region of the *TERT* gene also affects TERT expression and telomerase activity (See the TERT promoter mutation chapter below for details).

### 1.2.2.2 Transcriptional regulation of TERT expression

The TERT promoter is GC rich and lacks both TATA and CAAT boxes. It contains at least five Sp1 binding motifs, two E-boxes and a single transcription start site that binds multi-functional transcription factor TFII-I for gene expression. [33, 34] Numerous studies have shown that the TERT transcription machinery is controlled by various transcription and epigenetic factors (Figure 2).

### **Positive transcription factors**

### c-Myc

The oncoprotein c-Myc is the well characterized transcription factor that activates *TERT* transcription. Myc forms a dimer with Max that binds to the 5'-CACGTG-3' consensus core sequence (E-box) in promoters, thereby transactivating target genes. [35] c-Myc is known to stimulate cell proliferation, block cellular differentiation, and promote tumorigenesis. Its role in transactivation of the *TERT* gene is one of important driving-forces to transform cells. [36]

### Sp1 family transcription factors

The Sp1 transcription factor belongs to the Specificity Protein/Krüppel-like Factor (SP/KLF) transcription factor family and its consensus binding sequence is GGGGCGGGG or GGGTGGG. There are at least 5 Sp1 binding GC-boxes in the TERT core promoter region. [33] Sp1 cooperates with c-Myc to activate the TERT transcription, and when all the Sp1 binding sites are disrupted, the TERT promoter activity is erased, and even over-expression of c-Myc is unable to activate the promoter any longer. [37]

### Other positive regulators

Apart from the above two major factors, many other positive factors regulate TERT transcription directly or indirectly. Survivin increases the DNA binding ability of c-Myc and Sp1, thus augmenting TERT transcription. [38] HPV E6 oncoprotein forms a tertiary complex with E6AP and c-Myc, and binds to the E-box, thereby increasing TERT transcription. STAT3, c-Jun, EWS-ETS and HIF- $1\alpha$  have direct promoter interaction, stimulating TERT transcription. [39-43]

### Negative transcription factors

### Mad/Max heterodimer

Mad is expressed in non-proliferating cells, inhibits proliferation, promotes differentiation, and prevents malignant transformation. Mad and Max forms a heterodimer that binds the same E-box as Myc/Max in the TERT core promoter, and competes with Myc/Max heterodimer binding to the promoter, thus repressing TERT expression. [29] During HL60 leukemic cell differentiation, there is a switch of E-box-binding from c-Myc/Max to Mad1/Max at the TERT promoter, and this switch is concomitant with shutting down of TERT transcription and silencing of telomerase. [29, 44]

p53

p53 is a negative regulator of TERT expression, which is compatible with its tumor suppressive role. p53 protein interacts with Sp1, a known TERT activator,

inhibiting Sp1 binding to the GC-box of the TERT promoter and repressing transcription. [45, 46] Expression of wild-type p53 in cancer cells causes decrease in TERT expression and telomerase activity, while tumor cells with mutant p53 have high-levels of telomerase activity. [45, 46]

### Other negative regulators

Many tumor suppressors are also negative transcription regulators of TERT expression. Wilms' tumor 1 (WT1) and menin can directly bind the promoter and repress TERT transcription. [44, 47] Rb, TGF- $\beta$ /Smad and AP1 also contribute to TERT repression at the transcriptional level. [39, 44, 48, 49]

### 1.2.2.3 Epigenetic regulation of TERT transcription

The transcriptional regulation by above transcription factors is critical for TERT expression. However, there is an additional transcriptional controlling, the epigenetic mechanism, which also plays roles in regulating TERT expression. The epigenetic mechanism involves nucleosome/chromatin remodeling, DNA methylation and histone modifications For example, histone acetylation/deacetylation is a common underlying feature to TERT transactivation/repression in human normal and malignant cells. [29] Histone methvlation transferase SMYD3 is required for optimal stimulation of c-MYC and Sp1 on the TERT promoter, while histone demethylase RBP2, can interact with Mad1, and be recruited to the TERT promoter, thereby inhibiting TERT transcription. [50, 51]

# 1.2.2.4 Post-transcriptional and post-translational regulation of TERT expression

Alternative splicing of TERT mRNA is the key post-transcriptional mechanism in the regulation of TERT expression. At least five TERT mRNA variants have been identified in human cells but only the full-length transcript is capable of being translated into a catalytically active protein. [23, 52, 53] Post-translational regulation is involved in TERT protein modifications. Phosphorylated TERT protein has a longer half-life while its ubiquitination leads to a fast degradation.



### 1.2.3 Telomerase function independent of telomere-lengthening

The canonical function of TERT is to maintain telomere length by synthesizing TTAGGG telomeric repeats at the end of chromosomes. Apart from its telomere lengthening function, TERT has many other activities in essential cellular processes, such as regulating gene expression, cell transformation, cell survival, mitochondrial function and epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT). [54]

TERT can function as a transcriptional modulator. It occupies the Wnt target promoters, working as a cofactor in the Wnt-β-catenin transcriptional complex and regulating Wnt target gene expression. [55] The RNA component of mitochondrial RNA-processing endoribonuclease (RMRP) is a small non-coding RNA found in mitochondrial. TERT has been shown to interact with RMRP and functions as RNA-dependent RNA polymerase that produces double-stranded RNAs. These RNAs are further processed into small-interfering RNAs and regulate gene expression in a post-transcriptional way. [56] TERT also binds to

the p65 subunit of NF- $\kappa$ B and promotes the expression of NF- $\kappa$ B target genes, including interlukin-6 (IL-6) and tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ). [57] EMT is an important player in cancer metastasis. Ectopic TERT expression promotes whereas its inhibition attenuates EMT in cancer cells. [58]

### **1.3 TERT promoter mutations**

Telomerase activation and TERT expression are important in cell immortalization and tumor progression. Although the regulation of TERT transcription has been extensively explored, the underlying mechanisms are still incompletely understood. More recently, TERT promoter mutations have been identified as important genetic events activating telomerase in different types of cancer.

### 1.3.1 TERT promoter mutations - overview

Gene mutations are frequently related with tumorigenesis, and the cancerspecific mutations occur mostly in the protein-coding area, while rarely in the gene regulatory area. Recently, however, somatic TERT promoter mutations have been observed, which are located within 200 base pairs (bp) upstream of the ATG translation start site, and these mutations stimulate the TERT transcription by creating *de novo* ETS binding motifs. [59-61]

### TERT promoter mutations and their functional implication

The TERT promoter mutations were first reported by Huang, et al and Horn, et al in 2013. [59-62] Both groups identified recurrent somatic mutations in the TERT promoter region in malignant melanoma. Two major mutations, which caused a cytidine-to-thymidine (C >T) dipyrimidine transition, localized at - 124 and -146 bp (chromosome 5 1,295,228 and 1,295,250) from the translation start site, and are named C228T and C250T, respectively (Figure 3). The two

mutations are found to be mutually exclusive. [59-61] The mutations exhibited the signature of an ultraviolet-induced DNA damage, and were found to be more frequent in sun-exposed sites in primary cutaneous melanoma. [59-61, 63]

The above mutations in the TERT promoter region have functional implications. Both C228T and C250T create a new sequence 5'-CCCCTTCCGGG-3', which is the E-twenty-six (ETS) transcription factor binding motif (GGAA, from the reverse strand) (Figure 3). Huang, et al constructed a TERT promoter luciferase reporter, and observed that the mutant TERT promoter activity increased by two to four fold compared with the wild-type one in same cancer cells. [59-61]



In addition to these two major TERT promoter mutations, other mutations are also identified in that region. CC>TT tandem mutations at position -124/-125bp and -138/-139, and C>T mutations at position -57 are found in a small proportion of cancer. [62] The two tandem mutations also contributed to the generation of an extra ETS transcription factor-binding motif. Moreover, the mutation at position -57 creates a CCGGAA ternary complex factor (TCF) binding site, which also enhances TERT transcription. [62]

### 1.3.2 TERT promoter mutations in human cancer

TERT promoter mutations are present in a vast type of cancers with different frequency and correlated with clinical variables. They are the most frequent mutation in hepatocellular carcinoma, bladder cancer and malignant melanoma. [59-61, 64-66] By contrast, no TERT promoter mutations were found in tumors such as breast and prostate cancer, leukemia, etc. [59-61, 67, 68] Details of TERT promoter mutations in human cancer are summarized in Table 1.

Malignant melanoma was shown to express significantly higher levels of TERT mRNA in mutation-positive tumors than in negative ones. [59-61] Consistent with these observations, tumors from thyroid cancer, liver cancer and primary gliomas also exhibited higher TERT mRNA expression in the mutation-positive tumors. [66, 67, 69, 70] However, in bladder cancer, such an association was not seen. [65]

Tumor type	Mutation frequency (%)	References
Urinary system		
Bladder cancer	55.6 - 85	[61, 64, 65, 68, 71-74]
Renal cell carcinoma (RCC)	8.3	[71]

Table 1. A Summary of TERT promoter mutations in cancer

9.3	[75]
13	[75]
47.3	[68]
60 - 63.7	[71, 75]
11	[75]
44 - 59	[76]
17	[76]
25	[66]
0 - 0.7	[77]
0	[78]
1.60	[79]
0	[80]
0 - 9.1	[81]
49 - 55	[82]
54 - 84	[83-85]
21.0	[71]
34 - 83	[71, 86]
31	[60, 71]
<5	[60, 71]
<5	[60, 71]
28	[87]
81	[71]
13 - 50	[71]
78 - 74	[84]
58	[84]
19	[69]
25	[69]
6	[88]
22 - 71	[59-63, 89, 90]
6	[91]
33	[91]
0	[92]
32	[92]
	9.3 13 47.3 60 - 63.7 11 44 - 59 17 25 0 - 0.7 0 1.60 0 0 - 9.1 49 - 55 54 - 84 21.0 34 - 83 31 <5 <5 <5 28 81 13 - 50 78 - 74 58 19 25 6 22 - 71 6 33 0 32

Basal cell carcinomas (BCCs)	56 - 78	[93, 94]
BCCs from X-irradiated patients	27	[89]
BCCs from nonirradiated patients	51	[89]
Primary melanocytic tumors	0	[95]
Cutaneous squamous cell carcinomas	50	[93, 94]
Atypical fibroxanthomas	93	[96]
Pleomorphic dermal sarcomas	76	[96]
Endocrine system		
Thyroid tumor		
Papillary thyroid carcinoma (PTC)	7.5 - 25	[70, 97-99]
Follicular thyroid carcinoma (FTC)	13.9 - 36.4	[70, 97, 98, 100]
Poorly differentiated carcinomas (PDTC)	29	[97, 98]
Anaplastic thyroid carcinomas (ATC)	33.3 - 50	[70, 97, 98]
Medullary thyroid carcinoma (MTC)	0	[70]
Adrenal neoplasms	4.8	[61]
Reproductive system		
Ovarian clear cell carcinomas	15.9%	[101]
Other tumors		
Malignant pleural mesothelioma	15	[73]
Myxoid liposarcomas	74 - 79	[68, 88]
Synovial sarcomas	0.4	[68, 88]
Osteosarcomas	4.3	[68]
Oral cavity cancers	17	[68]
Cell lines		
Gastric cancer cell lines	0	[81]
MTC cell lines	0	[70]
ATC cell lines	75	[70]
Bladder cancer cell lines	88	[74]
Melanoma cell lines	0.74	[62]

The TERT promoter mutation tends to be related to aggressive forms of malignancies. In thyroid carcinomas, anaplastic thyroid carcinoma (ATC), the most aggressive one, has the highest mutation rate (50%), while the differentiated thyroid carcinomas have a mutation rate 22 - 27%. [70] In renal

-

cell carcinoma, the mutation is also correlated with an advanced clinical stage (stage III/IV) and metastatic disease. [75] In primary glioblastoma and thyroid carcinomas, the mutation predicts a shorter patient survival. [68]

The TERT promoter mutation is the most frequently observed genetic event in bladder cancer. The presence of the mutant TERT promoter in voided urine has been suggested to be a marker for bladder cancer diagnosis and recurrence. [65] However, the mutations detected in the urine could also come from other urological malignancies. In the analysis of upper tract urinary carcinoma, a renal pelvic carcinoma patient was also found to have a TERT promoter mutation in his urine sample. [75] When the mutant TERT promoter is detected in voided urine, differential diagnosis must be made between bladder cancer and other urological malignancies.

The TERT promoter mutation frequency varies substantially from cancer to cancer. Killela et al hypothesized that it occurred mainly in tissues with low self-renewal rate and was mutually exclusive with the alternative lengthening of telomere. [68] However, more and more recent studies have suggested that malignancies with a high self-renewal may also acquire TERT promoter mutations. It is currently unclear what causes such differences in the mutation frequency among different malignancies.

In summary, the detection of the mutant TERT promoter as a diagnostic marker seems promising. This marker has also been tested to distinguish benign tumors from malignancies and to judge the tumor origins, because of its specific mutation profile in different tumor types. Patients with thyroid cancer carrying the mutation tended to have a poor outcome, thus making the TERT promoter mutation a prognostic factor. Several strategies based on telomerase inhibition have entered into clinical trials. [102] Whether the detection of the

TERT promoter mutation will contribute to a better-individualized telomerasebased therapy is worthy of exploring.

### 1.4 Thyroid cancer

The thyroid gland is the largest endocrine organ. It is located under the thyroid cartilage, and anterior to the larynx and trachea. The thyroid gland consists of two lobes with joint by isthmus, and a pyramidal lobe. Histologically, the basic unit of thyroid gland is the thyroid follicle, which is composed of epithelial follicular cells. Follicular cells constitute 90% of thyroid cells, and are responsible for secreting thyroid hormones. The remaining 10% of thyroid cells are called parathyroid cells or C-cells, which have a different histological origin and secret another hormone calcitonin. [103]



The incidence of thyroid cancer is growing in the past decades although the death rate is low. [104] According to its histological constitution, thyroid cancer has two origins: the follicular cell-derived tumors, which consist of follicular thyroid adenoma (FTA), follicular thyroid carcinoma (FTC), papillary thyroid

carcinoma (PTC), anaplastic thyroid carcinomas (ATC), and the parathyroid cell-derived tumor, medullary thyroid carcinoma (MTC). [104]

### 1.4.1 FTA: Follicular thyroid adenoma

FTA is a benign thyroid tumor, which accounts for 3 - 4% of all thyroid tumors. FTA is surrounded by an entire thin fibrous capsule, and is distinguishable from its malignant form, FTC, based on cytology or clinical features. No invasion of capsule or vascular could be the definition of FTA. [105] AFTA is anaplastic FTA with uncertain malignancy.

Although a benign tumor, certain genetic alterations occur in FTA. Oncogenic *HRAS/NRAS* mutations are found in 20 - 25% FTA. *As* an activator of the MAPK and PI3K–AKT pathways, the presence of *RAS* mutations indicates oncogenic alterations in those benign thyroid tumors. Moreover, a transition from FTA to FTC has been observed, and thus FTA is a pre-malignant lesion of the thyroid. [104]

### 1.4.2 FTC: Follicular thyroid carcinoma

FTC is a differentiated thyroid cancer, which accounts for approximately 15% of thyroid malignancies. FTC usually has thick and irregular capsule, and necrosis and mitosis occur frequently. Capsule or vascular invasion is a key feature distinguishing FTC from FTA. [105]

The paired box 8 (*PAX8*) peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- $\gamma$  (*PPARG*) fusion gene (*PAX8–PPARG*) is the predominant genetic alteration in FTC. *NRAS* mutations and *PTEN* mutations or deletions are also oncogenic drivers in FTC pathogenesis. [104]

### 1.4.3 PTC: Papillary thyroid carcinoma

PTC is the most common thyroid cancer and constitutes 80 - 85% of all thyroid cancers. [104] It has a good prognosis and the 10-year survival rate is over 80%. PTC is also a differentiated cancer. It has papillary architecture and special

characteristic nuclear features like enlargement, elongation, etc., which distinguish PTC from other follicular cell-derived thyroid cancer. [104]

The *BRAF* gene T1799A point mutation, which generates BRAF V600E mutant protein, is the most common genetic alteration in PTC. BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> is found in 30 - 70% PTCs. The mutant protein is required for tumor growth and responsible for PTC pathogenesis. *BRAF* mutations in general predict poor patient outcomes. [104]

### 1.4.4 ATC: Anaplastic thyroid carcinoma

ATC is undifferentiated thyroid cancer. It is the least common while the most aggressive type of thyroid cancer. It accounts for 2 - 3% of all thyroid cancers. [104] ATC patients have a poor prognosis. According to a survey in USA, the patients' median survival was 5 months, and one-year survival is only 20%. [106] ATC may come from a differentiated thyroid cancer or occur as a *de novo* disease.

ATC has multiple genetic abnormalities. They include mutations in *TP53*, *CTNNB1*, *BRAF*, *RAS*, *PTEN*, and other genes, making ATC the most malignant thyroid cancer.

### 1.4.5 MTC: Medullary thyroid carcinoma

MTC is the only malignancy that arises from parafollicular or C-cells and accounts for 5 - 8% of all thyroid cancers. The proto-oncogene *RET* mutation is considered to be the major genetic alteration in MTC and a negative prognostic factor. Mutations related with follicular cell-derived carcinomas, such as *BRAF* and *RAS* mutations, are not found in MTC. [107]

### 1.5 Gastric cancer

### 1.5.1 Overview

Gastric cancer is the fourth most-common cancer in the world. It's on the second place of cancer mortality, just after lung cancer. The incidence of gastric cancer has declined in the past decades in developed countries, but in most developing countries, like China, the incidence is still high, which leads to heavy social burdens. [108] In 2004, 264,000 patients were diagnosed with gastric cancer, and 206,000 patients died in China. Over 90% of gastric cancer are adenocarcinoma and mainly divided into two histologic subtypes: intestinal and diffuse. [108]

*Helicobacter pylori,* an infectious agent, have been recognized to be strongly associated with gastric cancer development. *H. pylori* was classified as class I carcinogen by the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) in 1994. [108] Epstein-Barr Virus (EBV), an oncogenic virus, is also related to the pathogenesis of gastric cancer.

A precancerous to cancerous cascade is well defined in gastric cancer: normal $\rightarrow$  chronic nonatrophic gastritis  $\rightarrow$  atrophic gastritis  $\rightarrow$  gastric cancer. Gastric cancer has poor outcomes in general.

### 1.5.2 The role of cyclooxygenae-2 (COX2) in cancer

Cyclooxygenase-2 is also called Prostaglandin-endoperoxide synthase 2. It is the rate-limiting enzyme for the conversion of arachidonic acid into prostaglandin H2. There are two isoforms of cyclooxygenase: COX1, constitutively expressed in most tissues, and COX2, unexpressed under normal conditions in most cells, while induced during inflammation. COX2 is also an oncogenic factor; it promotes angiogenesis, induces tumor cell growth, inhibits apoptosis and attenuates immune-surveillance function. [109-113]

# 2. AIMS OF THE STUDY

The overall objective of the present study is to delineate regulatory mechanisms underlying cancer-specific TERT expression, novel roles of TERT/telomerase in cancer development/progression, and their clinical relevance. Specifically, the study is aimed at

- 1. determining TERT promoter mutations in thyroid and gastric cancer.
- 2. defining the relationship between TERT promoter mutation and clinical variables in thyroid carcinomas.
- 3. defining novel functions of TERT in oncogenesis for rational development of telomerase-based anti-cancer strategies.

# **3. MATERIALS AND METHODS**

### 3.1 Human patient samples

### 3.1.1 Thyroid carcinoma/ adenoma tissues (Paper I and II)

We collected tissue samples from 144 patients with thyroid cancers who were diagnosed and underwent surgery at Karolinska University Hospital Solna. The patients included 20 ATCs, 51 PTCs, 52 FTCs and 37 MTCs. We also collected 58 FTAs and 18 AFTAs tumor specimens from 76 patients at the same hospital. The specimens were collected after surgical treatment within Karolinska University Hospital and kept frozen at -70 °C until use. Tumors were diagnosed according to the criteria of the World Health Organization. All samples were collected with informed consent and approved by the local ethics committee. Detailed clinical information of patients is given in Supplementary Tables S1-S3 in paper I and paper II.

### 3.1.2 Gastric cancer tissues (Paper III)

Tumor tissues from two hundred patients with gastric cancer were collected from Qilu hospital, Shandong, China. Formalin-fixed paraffin embedded tumor tissues were used. The study was approved by the local ethics committee. Tumors were diagnosed according to the criteria of the World Health Organization.

### 3. 2 Established human cell lines

### **3.2.1 Thyroid cancer cell lines (Paper I)**

We used 10 human thyroid cancer cell lines in the study (Table 2), and they were C643W, SW1736, U-hth7, U-hth74, U-hth112, U-hth104, ARO and KAT-4, [114] MTC-TT (ATCC) and MZ-CRC-1 (provided by Dr. BG.Robinson at University of Sydney).

### 3.2.2 Gastric cancer and other cell lines (Paper IV)

Human gastric cancer cell line AGS and cervical cancer cell line HeLa were from American Type Culture Collection (ATCC) (Table 2). The gastric cancer

cell line BGC-823 was bought from Beijing Cancer Institute, China in 2008. Normal human fibroblasts were from Life Technology and the Osteosarcoma cell line U2OS was a gift from professor Yusheng Cong, Hangzhou Normal University, China (Table 2).

Name	Origin	Subtype	Paper
C643W	Thyroid cancer	ATC	I
SW1736	Thyroid cancer	ATC	I
U-hth7	Thyroid cancer	ATC	I
U-hth74	Thyroid cancer	ATC	I
U-hth12	Thyroid cancer	ATC	I
U-hth104	Thyroid cancer	ATC	I
ARO	Thyroid cancer	ATC	I
KAT-4	Thyroid cancer	ATC	I
MZ-CRC-1	Thyroid cancer	MTC	I
MTC-TT	Thyroid cancer	MTC	I
AGS	Gastric cancer		IV
BGC-823	Gastric cancer		IV
HeLa	Cervical cancer		IV
U2OS	Osteosarcoma		IV
Normal human skin fibroblasts	Normal cells		IV

Table 2. Cell lines used in this thesis.

### 3.3 DNA extraction and Sanger sequencing (Paper I, II and III)

In the present study, genomic DNA was extracted from frozen tumor tissue samples using standard methods and from paraffin tissues using a DNA FFPE
Tissue Kit (QIAGEN). The genomic DNA was then applied with the primers spanning the hTERT promoter, *BRAF*, *HRAS*, *KRAS* and *NRAS* genes using a QIAGEN Hotstar DNA polymerase. PCR was performed based on the manufacture's instruction and primers sequences are listed in Table 3.

The TERT promoter region is GC-rich and is difficult to amplify using conventional PCR conditions. We solved this problem by adding betaine in the reaction mixture. Betaine is a chemical compound that increases PCR amplification efficiency by reducing the formation of secondary structure in the GC-rich DNA region. [115]

Sanger sequencing was developed in 1975 by Sanger as the first generation sequencing technology based on four-color fluorescence and automated capillary electrophoresis (CE) systems. [116] It is the conventional method to analyze DNA sequences. Both deoxy-ribonucleoside triphosphate (dNTPs) and dideoxy-ribonucleoside triphosphate (dNTPs) and dideoxy-ribonucleoside triphosphate (ddNTps) are added into PCR reaction systems. The ddNTPs, which may be radioactively or fluorescently labeled for detection, lack the 3'-OH and cannot be amplified. dNTPs and ddNTPs bind to the template randomly. The PCR reaction will cease when ddNTPs bind to the template, which generate different sized PCR fragments. These fragments can be separated by size using gel electrophoresis and different termination signals can be detected and analyzed to get the template sequence.

After PCR reaction, products were purified and precipitated with ethanol and EDTA. The Sanger sequencing was conducted with BigDye Terminator v3.1 Cycle Sequencing Kit (Applied Biosystems) in an ABI 3730 DNA analyzer machine. We used CodonCode Aligner software to analyze the sequencing results and the mutation samples were confirmed from both directions.

	Table 3. F	Primers used	for PCR and	Sanger seq	uencing in	this thesis.
--	------------	--------------	-------------	------------	------------	--------------

Purpose / Target	Description	Sequence			
Sequencing of TERT					
TERT promoter	Forward	5' - CACCCGTCCTGCCCCTTCACCTT - 3'			
TERT promoter	Reverse	5' - GGCTTCCCACGTGCGCAGCAGGA - 3'			
Sequencing of HRAS					
HRAS exon 1 codon 12/13	Forward	5' - ATGACGGAATATAAGCTGGT - 3'			
HRAS exon 1 codon 12/13	Reverse	5' - CTCTATAGTGGGGTCGTATT - 3'			
HRAS exon 2 codon 61	Forward	5' - AGGTGGTCATTGATGGGGAG - 3'			
HRAS exon 2 codon 61	Reverse	5' - AGGAAGCCCTCCCCGGTGCG - 3'			
Sequencing of KRAS					
KRAS exon 1 codon 12/13	Forward	5' - GGCCTGCTGAAAATGACTGAA - 3'			
KRAS exon 1 codon 12/13	Reverse	5' - GGTCCTGCACCAGTAATATGC - 3'			
KRAS exon 2 codon 61	Forward	5' - CAGGATTCCTACAGGAAGCAAGTAG - 3'			
KRAS exon 2 codon 61	Reverse	5' - CACAAAGAAAGCCCTCCCCA - 3'			
Sequencing of NRAS					
NRAS exon 1 codon 12/13	Forward	5' - ATGACTGAGTACAAACTGGT - 3'			
NRAS exon 1 codon 12/13	Reverse	5' - CTCTATGGTGGGATCATATT - 3'			
NRAS exon 2 codon 61	Forward	5' - TCTTACAGAAAACAAGTGGT - 3'			
NRAS exon 2 codon 61	Reverse	5' - GTAGAGGTTAATATCCGCAA - 3'			

#### 3.4 Telomere length assessment (Paper I, II and IV)

#### 3.4.1 Quantitative PCR (qPCR)

We used two methods to measure telomere length. In paper I and II, a wellestablished qPCR method was used to determine telomere length from frozen tissues. [117] TEL primers were specially designed to amplify telomere (T) repeats and beta-globin (HBG) was used as a standard (S) reference gene. Relative telomere length was determined by calculating T/S values using the formula, T/S=2<sup>- $\Delta$ Ct</sup>, where  $\Delta$ Ct=average Ct<sub>telomere</sub> – average Ct<sub>β-globin</sub>.

#### 3.4.2 Q-FISH

Quantitative Fluorescent in situ Hybridization (Q-FISH) is a more informative method to measure telomere length. It provides visible and individual telomere length assessment with the resolution to 200 bps. [118] Cells are fixed with 4% paraformamide and incubated with fluorescence-labeled PNA (CCCTAA) 3' probe. The signal intensity in 50 cells was determined using NIS software (Nikon, Stockholm, Sweden) and expressed in arbitrary units.

#### 3.5 RNA extraction, reverse transcription and qPCR

To detect gene mRNA expression in different cells or tissues, we used qPCR. Total RNA was extracted using Trizol method (Invitrogen). RNA was then used as the template to synthesize cDNA with random primers (N6, Amersham, Buckinghamshire, UK) and M-MLV reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen). qPCR was carried out in an ABI7900HT fast real-time system (Applied Biosystems) using SYBR green master mix kit (Applied Biosystems). The primers used in the study are listed in Table 4. We used  $\beta$ -2 microglobulin ( $\beta$ -2M) as the internal control and 2<sup>- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct</sup> method was used to calculate relative mRNA expression. [119]

Target	Description	Sequence
TERT	Forward	5'-CGGAAGAGTGTCTGGAGCAA-3'
	Reverse	5'-GGATGAAGCGGAGTCTGGA-3'
COX2	Forward	5'-GCCCAGCACTTCACGCATCAG-3'
	Reverse	5'AGACCAGGCACCAGACCAAAGACC-3'
COX1	Forward	5'-CGGCTGCAGCCCTTCAATGAGT-3'
	Reverse	5'-CTCTCCCCAAAGATAGAGTTTGGA-3'
β2-M	Forward	5'-GAATTGCTATGTGTCT GGGT-3'
	Reverse	5'-CATCTTCAAACCTCCATGATG-3'

Table 4.	<b>Primers</b>	used for	aPCR	determination	of	aene ex	pression
			9. 0		•••	90110 0/1	

#### **3.6 Telomerase activity measurement (Paper II and IV)**

We used a commercial Telomerase PCR ELISA kit (Roche Diagnostics Scandinavia AB, Stockholm, Sweden) to detect telomerase activity. For each assay, 1  $\mu$ g of protein was used, and 26 PCR cycles were performed after the telomerase-primer elongation reaction. The PCR products were detected using ELISA color reaction and the level of telomerase activity was expressed as absorbance in arbitrary units.

#### 3.7 COX2 promoter activity assay (Paper IV)

The COX2 reporter plasmid contains the core promoter sequence (-327/+59) inserted into a luciferase-encoding DNA fragment and its luciferase activity indicates the transcriptional level of the *COX2* gene. [120] The plasmid was transfected into the treated or control BGC cells, and the COX2 promoter-driven luciferase activity was then determined using a dual luciferase reporter assay system (Promega, Madison, WI, USA) 48 hrs post transfection, and the target promoter-driven firefly luciferase activity was normalized to the renilla activity included in the kit.

#### **3.8 Western blot (Paper IV)**

Western blot or protein immunoblot is widely used to detect proteins from cells/tissues. Total cellular proteins were extracted using RIPA lysis buffer, and the concentration of proteins was measured using a BCA method. For the assessment of phosphorylated p38 MAPK, sodium orthovanadate was added to lysis and washing buffers to inhibit phosphatases. Proteins were then denatured at 100 °C for 5 minutes. Twenty microgram of proteins were subjected to SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and transferred to a PVDF membrane. The membrane was then incubated with specific antibodies against COX2 (Cayman chemical, Ann Arbor, MI, USA), Phospho-p38 MAPK (Thr180/Tyr182), p38 MAPK (Cell Signaling Technology, Billerica, MA, USA) or  $\beta$ -actin (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA, USA) and then with secondary anti-mouse or rabbit horseradish peroxidase-conjugated IgG (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA), and finally developed with the chemiluminescence method (ECL, Amersham, Little Chalfont, UK).

#### 3.9 Flow cytometry (Paper IV)

Flow cytometry (FCM) is a laser based, biophysical technology employed, and multi-parameter biotechnology. FCM is widely used in cell counting, apoptosis and cell cycle analysis, cell sorting and biomarker detection, etc.. The amount of chromatins varies in different cell phases. S-phase cells have double amounts of chromatin comparing to G0/1-phase cells, and apoptotic cells have chromatin breakages. Propidium iodide (PI) is a fluorescent molecule that can bind to nucleic acid. Cells were fixed with ethanol and stained with PI, and the fluorescent signal shows the different DNA contents in each cell phase, which helps to define cell cycle distribution and to differentiate necrotic and apoptotic cells from living ones.

In our experiments, cells are fixed with 70% ethanol at 4  $^{\circ}$ C overnight and stained with RNAse A (0.5 mg)-containing PI (50 µg/ml). Cell cycle distribution and apoptosis were determined using flow cytometry with ModFit (BD Biosciences, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA).

#### 3.10 Cell culture and *TERT* gene knock down (Paper IV)

Human gastric cancer cell lines and cervical cancer cell line were cultured in RPMI-1640 medium with 10% Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS) and L-glutamine in a  $37^{\circ}$ C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator.

#### 3.10.1 Small-interfering RNA (siRNA)

siRNA is a class of 20-25 base pairs in length, double-stranded RNA molecules. Each siRNA is unwound into two single-stranded (ss) ssRNAs, the passenger strand and guide strand. The passenger strand is degraded whereas the guide strand is incorporated into the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC), which causes the transcriptional silence of complementary message RNA (mRNA). siRNA is a widely used tool in transcriptional silencing. In our study, we bought chemical modified Stealth control (5'-TERT CCUACAUCCCGAUCGAUGAUGUUGA-3') and (5'-AGGCACUGUUCAGCGUGCUCAACUA-3') siRNAs from Invitrogen. The

siRNAs were transfected into cells using lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen) according to the manufacture's instruction.

#### 3.10.2 Lenti-viral vector construction

The gene knock down by siRNAs is transient. In order to stably inhibit TERT expression, we infected cells with a lenti-viral vector encoding TERT siRNA (Invitrogen).

Lentivirus belongs to the retrovirus family. It delivers viral RNA into host cells and infects both dividing and non-dividing cells. We used the second-generation packaging system, which include the packaging plasmid psPAX2 and envelop plasmid pMD2. G (Addgene). The TERT siRNA psPAX2 and pMD2.G were transfected into 293FT virus package cells. Supernatant was collected 24 hrs and 48 hrs post-transfection. The virus-containing medium was then centrifuged and concentrated. Cells are selected with 2  $\mu$ g/ml puromycin 48 hrs after infection.

#### 3.11 Mouse model (Paper IV)

The mouse model maximally mimics the *in vivo* biological progress without the added risk of harming actual human. In our study, we used a mouse model to investigate the synergistic anti-cancer efficacy by targeting both TERT and COX2.

BGC-823 cells infected with control and siTERT lenti-viral vectors were harvested, and  $2 \times 10^6$  cells were suspended in 100 µl PBS. The cells were then subcutaneously injected into nude mice (Shanghai Slac Laboratory Animal Co. Ltd., Shanghai, China) at the right back. The experiments were carried out with the university ethics committee approval and met the standards required by the UKCCCR guidelines. [121] Mice were killed after 3 weeks and tumors were collected for the measurement of weight, size and other analyses.

## 4. RESULTS

#### 4.1 TERT promoter mutations in cancer and their clinical implication

#### 4.1.1 The frequency of TERT promoter mutations in cancer

In this thesis, we sequenced the TERT promoter in different tumors, including thyroid carcinoma, benign thyroid tumor and gastric cancer. The frequency of TERT promoter mutation was different in these tumors and cancer subtypes (Table 5).

	Number	Mutated	Wild- type
Tumor type	Investigated	Number	Number
Thyroid tissue samples			
Anaplastic thyroid carcinoma (ATC)	20	10 / 20 (50%)	10 / 20
Papillary thyroid carcinoma (PTC)	51	13 / 51 (27%)	38 / 51
Follicular thyroid carcinoma (FTC)	36	8 / 36 (22%)	28 / 36
Medullary thyroid carcinoma (MTC)	37	0 / 37 (-)	37 / 37
Follicular thyroid adenoma (FTA)	58	1/58 (2%)	57/58
Anaplastic follicular thyroid adenoma (AFTA)	18	3/18 (17%)	15/18
Radioactive related thyroid carcinoma	51	0/51 (-)	51/51
Primary gastric cancer	200	0/200 (-)	200/200
Established cell lines			
ATC cell lines	8	6 / 8 (75%)	2/8
MTC cell lines	2	0 / 2 (-)	2/2

Table 5. Summary of TERT promoter mutations detected in thyroid and gastric tumors

As controls, we analyzed 20 normal thyroid samples and none of them carried TERT promoter mutations. In follicular cell-derived thyroid cancers, TERT promoter mutation C228T or C250T was detected. Particularly, mutations were also detected in benign thyroid adenoma (FTA) and the pre-malignant tumor AFTA, indicating the TERT promoter mutations being present in pre-malignant

lesions of the thyroid, too. The two mutations are mutually exclusive. C228T is the predominant form of mutations in the cancer types examined in the present study, consistent with other observations.

However, none of 37 medullary thyroid carcinomas (MTCs) carried either C228T or C250T mutation, which indicates that the TERT promoter mutation occurs only in follicular cell-derived thyroid cancers (Table 5).

We also got access to a cohort of 51 young PTC patients (age range 19–39 years; median 31 years) surgically treated at Kyiv City Teaching Endocrinological Center, Ukraine, and all these patients had been exposed to radioactivity from the accident at the Chernobyl nuclear power station in Ukraine in 1986. [122] Unexpectedly, none of the 51 patients carried TERT promoter mutations. Thus, this genetic event is not related to radiation in thyroid cancer.

In 200 patients with primary gastric cancer, none of their tumors were found to carry TERT promoter mutations.

In summary, the frequency of TERT promoter mutations differs among cancers, even in different subtypes of the same cancer. Exposure to radioactivity did not induce the mutation in thyroid cancer.

#### 4.2 TERT expression and telomerase activity in FTA and AFTA

Since the TERT promoter mutation increases TERT transcription, [59] we analyzed *in vivo* TERT mRNA expression and telomerase activity in FTA and AFTA samples. All four TERT promoter-carrying samples were observed to express TERT mRNA and telomerase activity. For comparison, we further analyzed TERT mRNA expression in 7 FTAs and 11AFTAs without TERT promoter mutations. Only 1 of these 7 FTAs and 2 of 11 AFTAs expressed TERT mRNA. Altogether, there was a highly significant difference in TERT expression between C228T-positive and negative tumors.

#### 4.3 TERT promoter mutations and telomere length

Very short telomere is a strong trigger for telomerase activation during cellular immortalization. We thus sought to determine whether there was an association between TERT promoter mutations and telomere length. In PTC patients, telomere length was significantly shorter in patients with TERT promoter mutations ( $0.873 \pm 0.45$ ) compared to patients without mutations ( $1.569 \pm 0.627$ ) (P < 0.0001) (Figure 5). Because mutations occurred in elderly PTC patients, and telomere shortened with age, we further determined the relationship between telomere length and age in these patients. The Pearson correlation analysis demonstrated that telomere length in PTC cancer cells was independent of patients' age.



We also determined the mean telomere length in all FTA and AFTA specimens and the results showed that telomere length varied substantially. The C228T mutation-positive tumors tended to have shorter telomere compared to the negative ones, but the difference was not statistically significant. In addition, there was no correlation between patients' age and telomere length in these tumor tissues, either.

#### 4.4 TERT promoter mutations and other gene mutations

## 4.4.1 TERT promoter mutations are not associated with BRAF mutations in PTC

BRAF mutations are the most common genetic event in PTC with a frequency of 30 - 70%. [104] To explore whether there is a relationship between these two events, we screened the presence of BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> mutations in PTC patients. We identified 32 BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> positive tumors in 51 PTC patients, but no association between these BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> and TERT promoter mutations were observed.

#### 4.4.2 TERT promoter and NRAS gene mutations in AFTA

Activating *RAS* gene mutations are known to occur in both FTA and AFTA. We further screened all 18 AFTAs and the C228T-positive FTA for mutations at codons 12, 13 and 61 of the *HRAS*, *KRAS* and *NRAS* genes. All 19 tumors carried wild type *HRAS* and *KRAS* genes. In contrast, five of them were shown to have an NRAS missense mutation at codon 61. Three of the NRAS mutated cases (1 FTA and 2 AFTA) were positive for C228T. There was a significant difference in the presence of the C228T mutation between tumors with and without NRAS mutations (P = 0.016).

#### 4.5 TERT promoter mutations and patients' age

TERT promoter mutations were more common in older age. In the 51 PTCs, all the 13 mutation-carrying patients were older than 49 years, and no mutations were found in patients <45 years old. The mutation frequency was 52% (13/25) in PTC patients >45 years. Thus, the age difference was highly significant between patients with and without the TERT promoter mutation (P < 0.0001).

In FTC patients, one of eight TERT promoter mutation-positive FTC patients was 31 years old and the remaining were >45 years. The age range was 31 - 83

years (median 69 years) and 17 - 77 years (median 54 years) for FTC patients with and without TERT promoter mutations, respectively, and this difference reached a statistically significant level (P = 0.05).

In the 58 FTA and 18 AFTA patients, all 4 patients with a TERT promoter mutation were  $\geq$ 45 years old at diagnosis. In contrast, none of 28 patients with age <45 carried the mutation. However, a statistical analysis did not show a significant difference (<45 vs.  $\geq$ 45, Fisher exact test, *P* = 0.29), likely due to the small number of patients with TERT promoter mutations.

Furthermore, we sequenced the cohort of 51 young PTC patients (age range 19 – 39 years old; median 31 years) surgically treated at Kyiv City Teaching Endocrinological Center, Ukraine, and all these patients had been exposed to radioactivity from the accident at the Chernobyl nuclear power station in Ukraine in 1986. Consistently, none of these 51 young patients carried the TERT promoter mutation in their tumors, which further supported an association between senior age and TERT promoter mutations in PTC patients.

#### 4.6 TERT promoter mutations and clinical characteristics

#### 4.6.1 TERT promoter mutations in aggressive thyroid cancer

The results from both thyroid cell lines and primary tumors, showed that the most aggressive carcinomas had the highest prevalence of TERT promoter mutations in all tumor subtypes (the mutation rates for ATC, PTC, FTC, AFTA, and FTA were 50%, 27%, 22%, 17%, and 3%, respectively), indicating a link between mutations and progressive diseases.

In FTAs, the only C228T-carrying patient had a recurrence at the scar site three years after primary surgery. This patient subsequently developed metastasis and died from the disease. A final diagnosis of FTC was confirmed at autopsy. In contrast, none of 57 TERT mutation-negative FTA cases progressed into FTC.

Taken together, the TERT promoter mutation predominantly occurs in more aggressive thyroid cancer and its presence in pre-malignant lesions of the thyroid may be a risk factor for malignant transformation.

#### 4.6.2 TERT promoter mutations and patients' prognosis

Since there is a link between TERT promoter mutations and aggressive tumors, we asked whether these genetic events predicted outcomes in thyroid cancer.

In ATC patients, there was no difference in tumor size and metastasis between the TERT promoter mutation-positive and -negative tumors. These patients all died of the disease except one. The patients with the mutation tended to have a shorter overall survival (OS) than those with a wild-type TERT promoter.

In PTC patients, the presence of the TERT promoter mutation was strongly associated with metastasis (7/11 in mutated vs. 3/25 in wild type, Fisher exact test, P = 0.028). Univariate analyses showed that TERT promoter mutations and age >45 years, were significantly associated with shorter overall survival (OS) (Figure 6). On multivariate analysis, age >45 years remained significantly associated with shorter OS. However, an opposite result was obtained for disease-specific survival (DSS). Both the presence of the TERT promoter mutation and age >45 years were significantly correlated with a shorter DSS in PTC patients using univariate analysis (P < 0.0001 and = 0.015 for mutated TERT promoter and age >45, respectively), whereas the former, but not age>45 years independently predicted a shorter DSS, in multivariate analysis. (P = 0.021 and 0.882 for the TERT mutated promoter and age >45 years, respectively) (Figure 6).



In FTC patients, the TERT promoter mutation and age >45 years were both associated with inferior OS (P = 0.038 and 0.003, respectively). Borderline significantly worse DSS was associated with the TERT promoter mutation (P = 0.058) and age >45 years was significantly associated with a shorter DSS in univariate analysis (P = 0.019). However, both of them were unable to predict DSS independently, as revealed by the multivariate analysis.

In primary gastric cancer, there were no TERT promoter mutations found in 200 patients, and these genetic alterations were not involved in telomerase activation occurring in gastric cancer.

#### 4.7 TERT and oncogenic factor COX2 expression in cancer

## 4.7.1 TERT depletion leads to up-regulation of COX2 expression in cancer cells

COX2 was found to activate TERT transcription in our previous study. [123] To see whether TERT affects COX2 expression, we knocked down TERT expression in gastric and cervical cancer cells using siRNA oligos specifically targeting TERT mRNA.

Following TERT depletion, the expression of COX2 was up-regulated at both mRNA and protein levels, as determined using qPCR and western blot, respectively. TERT depletion-mediated COX2 induction occurred already at 24 hrs, and lasted for the whole observation period (96 hrs), suggesting a constitutive rather than transient up-regulation of COX2 expression (Figure 7).

To determine whether TERT knocking down specifically up-regulates COX2 expression, we determined COX1 expression, the isoform of COX2 in the same sets of cDNA, and no significant change in COX1 mRNA level was observed. When we transfected control and TERT siRNA into normal human fibroblasts and the osteosarcoma cell line U2OS lacking TERT expression and

telomerase activity, COX2 expression did not increase, which indicates a specific effect of TERT depletion on COX2 induction.



#### 4.7.2 The COX2 promoter is activated in TERT-depleted cells

To probe the mechanism behind the COX2 induction mediated by TERT knocking down, we transfected BGC-823 cells with a reporter construct harboring a core COX2 promoter sequence (-327 - +59). The COX2 promoter activity was significantly higher in TERT-depleted BGC-823 cells compared to that in the cells with the control siRNA. So the induction of COX2 expression by TERT depletion occurs at the transcriptional level.

#### 4.7.3 p38 MAPK is involved in COX2 induction by TERT depletion

The p38 MAPK signaling pathway plays an important role in the regulation of COX2 transcription [124-128], while telomerase inhibition was previously shown to activate p38 MAPK in leukemic cells. [129] Thus we wanted to probe if this regulatory loop was present in cancer cells. We compared the phosphorylated p38 MAPK at Thr180/Tyr182 (p-p38) between control and TERT siRNA-treated BGC-823 and HeLa cells, and the immunoblotting

results showed a substantial increase in p-p38 levels in TERT knocked-down cells (Figure 8).

We further tested whether inhibiting the p38 MAPK activity was capable of blocking the up-regulation of COX2 expression following TERT knocking down. Indeed, the specific p38 MAPK inhibitor SB203580 abolished the stimulatory effect of TERT depletion on COX2 expression in both BGC-823 and HeLa cells (Figure 8).



# 4.7.4 The TERT depletion-mediated COX2 up-regulation is independent of telomere length

TERT is the catalytic component of the telomerase complex and its canonical function is telomere elongation. We thus asked whether TERT inhibition led to telomere shortening, thereby triggering p38 phosphorylation and COX2 upregulation. No detectable changes in telomere length were observed in control and TERT siRNA treated BGC-823 cells, as determined using Q-FISH. The results suggest a telomere lengthening-independent effect of TERT on the stimulation of p38 MAPK activation and COX2 expression.

#### 4.7.5 Synergistic apoptosis induction by inhibiting both TERT and COX2

#### In vitro studies

As COX2 promotes cancer cell survival and/or proliferation, we wanted to know whether COX2 inhibitors facilitated the anti-cancer effect of telomerase/TERT inhibition. BGC-823 cells were transfected with TERT siRNA followed by immediate treatment with celecoxib, a specific COX2 inhibitor. Compared with control cells, TERT depletion or celecoxib treatment at 50  $\mu$ M alone did not lead to significant changes in the cell number, however, when combined together, there was a robust decrease of viable cells (Figure 9). Flow cytometry analysis of DNA stained with PI showed the constant result: significant apoptotic death of TERT depleted cells in the presence of celecoxib (Figure 9).



#### In vivo observations

To determine whether the above results obtained from *in vitro* studies could be reproduced in an *in vivo* setting, we further performed the experiments with the xenograft model of human gastric cancer in nude mice. BGC-823 cells were infected with either an empty lenti-viral vector or one generating TERT siRNA

to stably knockdown TERT expression, and cells were then subcutaneously injected into the back of nude mice following 1 week selection with puromycin. Both BGC-823 control and TERT siRNA cells formed tumors with comparable size and weight in nude mice. Tumor size and weight were significantly diminished in BGC-823 TERT siRNA cell bearing mice fed with celecoxib (Figure 10). Furthermore, compared with other three groups, cellular constituents in tumors were much less dense in the group mice bearing TERT-depleted cells and fed with celecoxib.



### **5 DISCUSSION**

Recent studies have revealed somatic TERT promoter mutations in different types of human malignancies. In our study, we determined TERT promoter mutations in thyroid cancer-derived cell lines and primary thyroid cancer specimens, pre-malignant thyroid tumors and primary gastric cancer. We observed different mutation frequencies in different types of thyroid cancer. The highest mutation rate occurred in anaplastic thyroid carcinoma (ATC) cell lines, which was 75%. In the primary tumors, ATC exhibited the most frequent mutations (50%), while differentiated follicular cell derived tumors, PTCs and FTCs, have a mutation rate of above 20%. However, in C cell-derived MTC tumors or cell lines, no mutations were found, which indicated a tumor type-specific TERT promoter mutation.

Age is an important factor in the mutation event. In both PTC and FTC patients, older age is associated with a higher mutation rate. In the most aggressive ATC, which had the highest mutation rate, all patients were above 50 at diagnosis. In contrast, 51 PTC patients from the Ukraine Chernobyl disaster were all younger than 40 years old, and no mutations were found in this cohort of patients, although PTC has a mutation rate over 20% in the Swedish patient group.

We found that in PTC, the TERT promoter mutation-positive patients had shorter telomere. Since the mutation occurred in older patients and telomere length shortened with age, we compared patients' age with their telomere length in tumors. We didn't find any association between age and telomere length. Taken together, TERT promoter mutations are associated with shorter telomere length in cancer cells.

We provide the following model to explain why TERT promoter mutations occur in old patients with thyroid cancer. Thyroid epithelial cells from later age possess relative shorter telomeres due to their progressive erosion, and when oncogenic events drive active proliferation of these thyroid cells with diminished telomerase activity, excessive loss of telomeres leads to telomere dysfunction or even telomere crisis. Too short telomeres or telomere crisis triggers genomic instability and force cells to undergo telomerase activation, via TERT promoter mutations. In contrast, young individuals' thyroid epithelial cells have longer telomeres coupled with telomerase proficiency, and in such cases, their telomeres are likely long enough to avoid telomere crisis and telomerase may be up-regulated via other pathways rather than the TERT promoter mutation. However, TERT promoter mutations are not always present in older patients with other tumors. Medulloblastoma has a TERT promoter mutation frequency over 20%, whereas it is the most common malignant brain tumor of childhood. [68]

When analyzing an association between the mutation status and prognosis, we found that ATC patients with TERT promoter mutations tended to survive shorter compared with those without the mutation. In PTC patients, the presence of TERT promoter mutations was highly correlated with metastasis, and was a strong and independent factor to predict DSS. Age >45 years were correlated with worse OS, but did not predict DSS independently. We also found that FTC patients carrying the TERT promoter mutation exhibited substantially shorter OS and DSS. Collectively, the presence of the TERT promoter mutation may define a fraction of thyroid cancer patients with progressive disease and unfavorable outcomes.

Although TERT expression and telomerase activation is present in up to 90% of human malignancies, it is currently unclear how early this occurs in carcinogenesis. We have found one TERT promoter mutation in 58 FTA patients and 3 in 18 AFTA patients, respectively. FTA is a benign thyroid tumor and AFTA has an uncertain malignant potential. Both belong to pre-malignant lesions of the thyroid. None of the 57 mutation negative patients had progressed into FTC, whereas one of the mutation-positive patient who initially presented without features of AFTA or FTC, developed a scar recurrence with

histopathological features of AFTA and suggestive of FTC followed by recurrent metastatic FTC. This finding indicates that TERT promoter mutation may be a risk factor for FTA transforming into FTC. TERT promoter mutations were also found in cirrhotic preneoplastic macronodules and hepatocellular adenomas with malignant transformation. [66] Collectively, TERT promoter mutations occur early in the pre-malignant stage of oncogenesis, and the presence of TERT promoter mutations may predicate a future development of a full malignancy.

In the 200 primary gastric tumors that we analyzed, no TERT promoter mutations were found. There was also the absence of the mutation in breast cancer, prostate cancer or acute myeloid leukemia. [68] Despite so, there is still telomerase activity in these malignancies, and thus alternative mechanisms must account for their telomerase activation.

Telomerase has multiple activities in addition to its telomere-lengthening function. [54, 55, 58, 68] When TERT is inhibited, the effect and expression of proliferation- and survival-related factors are in general attenuated. However, our study unexpectedly showed that TERT knocking down led to a significant increase in COX2 expression. Since COX2 acts as an important oncogenic factor by promoting cell proliferation and/or survival, it's thus of importance to define the functional significance of COX2 up-regulation in TERT-depleted cancer cells. We evaluated both the *in vitro* and *in vivo* effects of TERT depletion and COX2 inhibition alone or in combination on BGC-823 cells. Neither TERT knocking down nor celecoxib treatment alone induced cell apoptosis in culture, whereas the combined treatment led to a dramatic decrease in cell numbers. This was also the case in the mouse xenograft model of human gastric cancer, which indicates their *in vivo* synergistic effect, too.

A number of previous studies have shown that telomerase or TERT inhibition induces apoptosis of certain cancer cells that occurs rapidly before telomeres become shorter. [130, 131] However, TERT depletion seemed not to inhibit proliferation and survival of BGC-823 cells at least within a 96-h period

examined. Telomerase inhibition leads to telomere shortening in cancer, which takes a period for cellular telomere become dysfunctional. This time lag might significantly affect the efficacy of telomerase inhibition and limits its clinical application. [19, 132-134] Our findings should help overcome these disadvantages by combining telomerase and COX2 inhibitors together and may have therapeutic implications in a telomerase-based anticancer strategy.

### **6 SUMMARY & CONCLUSIONS**

- 1. TERT promoter mutations occur in pre-malignant thyroid lesions and are strongly associated with increased TERT mRNA expression and telomerase activity. This indicates that the mutation is an early genetic event in carcinogenesis and that telomerase can be activated in the initial stage of cancer formation.
- 2. TERT promoter mutations are identified in follicular thyroid cell-derived carcinomas and associated with aggressive disease, and poor outcomes.
- 3. TERT promoter mutations are absent in C cell-derived medullary thyroid cancer and gastric cancer, suggesting that these genetic events are not responsible for telomerase activation in both malignancies.
- 4. TERT inhibition-mediated COX2 induction may protect cancer cells from apoptosis. Thus simultaneously targeting TERT and COX2 has synergistic killing effects on cancer cells, which may have implications in rational development of a telomerase-based anti-cancer strategy.

## 7 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I gratefully acknowledge all the people who have given me help during my life and my study.

Associate professor Dawei Xu, my main supervisor. Thank you for accepting me being your PhD student and giving invaluable scientific guidance, endless support, trust, and encouragement. Your attitude to research, your diligence and your inspiring ideas impressed me a lot.

Professor Magnus Björkholm, my co-supervisor. Thank you for the continuous support, the wonderful discussions and meetings, and the friendly work environment.

Professor Jihui Jia at Shandong University. Thank you for giving me the chance to study abroad. Thank you for the trust, encouragement and help in my career development.

Professor Catharina Larsson at CCK. Thank you for the wonderful collaboration and discussion. I appreciate your broad knowledge.

Lui-Weng Onn, for the collaboration in Merkel cell carcinoma.

All my co-authors, Na Wang, Jia Cao, Xiuming Liang, Hong Xie, Bingnan Li, Anastasios Sofiadis, Andrii Dinets, Jan.zedenius, Li Liu, Cheng Liu, Jikai Liu, Chang Wang, Nan Ge, Keqiang Yan, Hongbo Ren, Sanyuan Hu, Yidong Fan, Taylor C Brown, Anders Höög, Christofer C Juhlin, Adam Andreasson, Martin Bäckdahl, James Healy, Manju L Prasad, Reju Korah, Tobias Carling.

My colleagues and friends in hematology laboratory CMM, Meta Andersson, Anne-Marie Andresson, Selina Parvin, Monica Ekberg, Göran Holm, Jan Sjöberg, Hans-Erik Claesson, Ping Li, Hongya Han, Xiaolu Zhang, Bingnan Li, Jenny Dahlström, Nick De Jonghe, Xiaotian Yuan and Kun Wang.

My friends in CMM, Yabin Wei, Jiajia Liu, Björn Johansson, Mei Zong, Quan Tang, Xiaoying Zhang, Xintong Jiang, Yajuan Wang, Anna Fogdell Hahn, Anna Witasp, Anna-Lee Jansén, Annika Eriksson; Catharina Lavebratt, Charlotte Lindfors, Christina Hermanrud, Elin Engdahl, Ida Nilsson, Ingegerd Löfving Arvholm, Katarina Fink, Katarina Gell, Malin Almgren, Malin Ryner, Martin Schalling, Rasmus Gustafsson, Sahl Khalid Bedri, Selim Sengul.

My teachers and friends at Shandong University, Wenjuan Li, Zhifang Liu, Jiping Zeng, Xia Xu, Li Zhao, Wen Zang, Xinyu Ci.

My friends at CCK, Andrew Lee, Rong Yu, Qiang Zhang, Shuo Liang, Yuanyuan Zhang, Ran Ma, Tiehong Zhang, Lidi Xu, Qiongzi Zhangmei, Limin Ma, Chao Sun, Xiaonan Zhang.

My friends at Karolinska Institute and Karolinska Hospital, Benjamin Liu, Xiaoli Feng, Xin Feng, Zhihua Wu, Hua Xu, Yuchun Wu, Tianwei Gu, Rui Wang, Yu Qian, Huan Song, Jianren Song, Na Guan, Ting Zhuang, Chen Suo, Xinyan Miao, Jingwen Wang, Xia Jiang, Meili Sun, Min Guo, Jian Wang, Ying Wang, Guoxun Xu.

My dearest family, my mother Cuiping Cheng, my father in memory, my grandparents, my aunts and uncles, my cousins. Thank you for your care and love to me.

My husband Zhonghua Li. Thank you for your endless love, support and encouragement. Thank you for your patience. Thank you for taking care of my family during my study in Sweden. Thank you for building up a warm nest for us.

The study was supported by the Swedish Cancer Society, the Cancer society in Stockholm, Karolinska Institute Funds, Stockholm Country Council. I would like to thank China Scholarship Council (CSC) for stipend support.

### **8 REFERENCES**

- 1. Blackburn, E.H., *Switching and signaling at the telomere*. Cell, 2001. **106**(6): p. 661-73.
- 2. Moyzis, R.K., et al., *A highly conserved repetitive DNA sequence,* (*TTAGGG*)*n, present at the telomeres of human chromosomes.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1988. **85**(18): p. 6622-6.
- 3. Greider, C.W. and E.H. Blackburn, *A telomeric sequence in the RNA of Tetrahymena telomerase required for telomere repeat synthesis.* Nature, 1989. **337**(6205): p. 331-7.
- 4. Griffith, J.D., et al., *Mammalian telomeres end in a large duplex loop*. Cell, 1999. **97**(4): p. 503-14.
- 5. de Lange, T., *Shelterin: the protein complex that shapes and safeguards human telomeres.* Genes Dev, 2005. **19**(18): p. 2100-10.
- 6. Wright, W.E., O.M. Pereira-Smith, and J.W. Shay, *Reversible cellular* senescence: implications for immortalization of normal human diploid fibroblasts. Mol Cell Biol, 1989. **9**(7): p. 3088-92.
- 7. Harley, C.B., *Telomere loss: mitotic clock or genetic time bomb?* Mutat Res, 1991. **256**(2-6): p. 271-82.
- 8. Greider, C.W. and E.H. Blackburn, *Identification of a specific telomere terminal transferase activity in Tetrahymena extracts*. Cell, 1985. **43**(2 Pt 1): p. 405-13.
- 9. Morin, G.B., *The human telomere terminal transferase enzyme is a ribonucleoprotein that synthesizes TTAGGG repeats.* Cell, 1989. **59**(3): p. 521-9.
- Feng, J., et al., *The RNA component of human telomerase*. Science, 1995.
  269(5228): p. 1236-41.
- 11. Weinrich, S.L., et al., *Reconstitution of human telomerase with the template RNA component hTR and the catalytic protein subunit hTRT*. Nat Genet, 1997. **17**(4): p. 498-502.
- Venteicher, A.S., et al., Identification of ATPases pontin and reptin as telomerase components essential for holoenzyme assembly. Cell, 2008. 132(6): p. 945-57.

- 13. Cong, Y.S., W.E. Wright, and J.W. Shay, *Human telomerase and its regulation*. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev, 2002. **66**(3): p. 407-25.
- 14. Hiyama, E. and K. Hiyama, *Telomere and telomerase in stem cells*. Br J Cancer, 2007. **96**(7): p. 1020-4.
- 15. Shay, J.W. and S. Bacchetti, *A survey of telomerase activity in human cancer*. Eur J Cancer, 1997. **33**(5): p. 787-91.
- 16. Hiyama, K., et al., *Activation of telomerase in human lymphocytes and hematopoietic progenitor cells.* J Immunol, 1995. **155**(8): p. 3711-5.
- 17. Kim, N.W., et al., *Specific association of human telomerase activity with immortal cells and cancer*. Science, 1994. **266**(5193): p. 2011-5.
- 18. Bodnar, A.G., et al., *Extension of life-span by introduction of telomerase into normal human cells*. Science, 1998. **279**(5349): p. 349-52.
- 19. Hahn, W.C., et al., *Creation of human tumour cells with defined genetic elements*. Nature, 1999. **400**(6743): p. 464-8.
- 20. Hanahan, D. and R.A. Weinberg, *The hallmarks of cancer*. Cell, 2000. **100**(1): p. 57-70.
- Kyo, S., et al., Understanding and exploiting hTERT promoter regulation for diagnosis and treatment of human cancers. Cancer Sci, 2008. 99(8): p. 1528-38.
- 22. Kyo, S. and M. Inoue, *Complex regulatory mechanisms of telomerase activity in normal and cancer cells: how can we apply them for cancer therapy?* Oncogene, 2002. **21**(4): p. 688-97.
- 23. Kilian, A., et al., *Isolation of a candidate human telomerase catalytic subunit gene, which reveals complex splicing patterns in different cell types.* Hum Mol Genet, 1997. **6**(12): p. 2011-9.
- 24. Lingner, J., et al., *Reverse transcriptase motifs in the catalytic subunit of telomerase*. Science, 1997. **276**(5312): p. 561-7.
- 25. Meyerson, M., et al., *hEST2, the putative human telomerase catalytic subunit gene, is up-regulated in tumor cells and during immortalization.* Cell, 1997. **90**(4): p. 785-95.
- 26. Daniel, M., G.W. Peek, and T.O. Tollefsbol, *Regulation of the human catalytic subunit of telomerase (hTERT)*. Gene, 2012. **498**(2): p. 135-46.

- Du, H.Y., et al., *Telomerase reverse transcriptase haploinsufficiency and telomere length in individuals with 5p- syndrome*. Aging Cell, 2007. 6(5): p. 689-97.
- 28. Zhang, A., et al., *Deletion of the telomerase reverse transcriptase gene and haploinsufficiency of telomere maintenance in Cri du chat syndrome.* Am J Hum Genet, 2003. **72**(4): p. 940-8.
- 29. Hou, M., et al., *The histone deacetylase inhibitor trichostatin A derepresses the telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) gene in human cells.* Exp Cell Res, 2002. **274**(1): p. 25-34.
- 30. Zhang, A., et al., *Frequent amplification of the telomerase reverse transcriptase gene in human tumors.* Cancer Res, 2000. **60**(22): p. 6230-5.
- 31. Armanios, M.Y., et al., *Telomerase mutations in families with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis.* N Engl J Med, 2007. **356**(13): p. 1317-26.
- 32. Vulliamy, T., et al., *Association between aplastic anaemia and mutations in telomerase RNA*. Lancet, 2002. **359**(9324): p. 2168-70.
- 33. Takakura, M., et al., Cloning of human telomerase catalytic subunit (hTERT) gene promoter and identification of proximal core promoter sequences essential for transcriptional activation in immortalized and cancer cells. Cancer Res, 1999. **59**(3): p. 551-7.
- 34. Cong, Y.S., J. Wen, and S. Bacchetti, *The human telomerase catalytic subunit hTERT: organization of the gene and characterization of the promoter.* Hum Mol Genet, 1999. **8**(1): p. 137-42.
- 35. Wu, K.J., et al., *Direct activation of TERT transcription by c-MYC*. Nat Genet, 1999. **21**(2): p. 220-4.
- Xu, D., et al., Switch from Myc/Max to Mad1/Max binding and decrease in histone acetylation at the telomerase reverse transcriptase promoter during differentiation of HL60 cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2001. 98(7): p. 3826-31.
- 37. Kyo, S., et al., *Sp1 cooperates with c-Myc to activate transcription of the human telomerase reverse transcriptase gene (hTERT).* Nucleic Acids Res, 2000. **28**(3): p. 669-77.

- 38. Endoh, T., et al., *Survivin enhances telomerase activity via up-regulation* of specificity protein 1- and c-Myc-mediated human telomerase reverse transcriptase gene transcription. Exp Cell Res, 2005. **305**(2): p. 300-11.
- 39. Takakura, M., et al., *Function of AP-1 in transcription of the telomerase reverse transcriptase gene (TERT) in human and mouse cells*. Mol Cell Biol, 2005. **25**(18): p. 8037-43.
- Alfonso-De Matte, M.Y., et al., *Telomerase is regulated by c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase in ovarian surface epithelial cells*. Cancer Res, 2002.
  62(16): p. 4575-8.
- 41. Konnikova, L., et al., Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) regulates human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) expression in human cancer and primary cells. Cancer Res, 2005. **65**(15): p. 6516-20.
- 42. Fuchs, B., et al., *hTERT Is highly expressed in Ewing's sarcoma and activated by EWS-ETS oncoproteins*. Clin Orthop Relat Res, 2004(426): p. 64-8.
- 43. Nishi, H., et al., *Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 mediates upregulation of telomerase (hTERT)*. Mol Cell Biol, 2004. **24**(13): p. 6076-83.
- 44. Lin, S.Y. and S.J. Elledge, *Multiple tumor suppressor pathways negatively regulate telomerase*. Cell, 2003. **113**(7): p. 881-9.
- 45. Xu, D., et al., *Downregulation of telomerase reverse transcriptase mRNA expression by wild type p53 in human tumor cells.* Oncogene, 2000. **19**(45): p. 5123-33.
- 46. Kanaya, T., et al., Adenoviral expression of p53 represses telomerase activity through down-regulation of human telomerase reverse transcriptase transcription. Clin Cancer Res, 2000. 6(4): p. 1239-47.
- 47. Oh, S., et al., *The Wilms' tumor 1 tumor suppressor gene represses transcription of the human telomerase reverse transcriptase gene.* J Biol Chem, 1999. **274**(52): p. 37473-8.
- Xu, H.J., et al., *Reexpression of the retinoblastoma protein in tumor cells induces senescence and telomerase inhibition*. Oncogene, 1997. 15(21): p. 2589-96.

- 49. Li, H., et al., *Transforming growth factor beta suppresses human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) by Smad3 interactions with c-Myc and the hTERT gene.* J Biol Chem, 2006. **281**(35): p. 25588-600.
- 50. Ge, Z., et al., *Chromatin remodeling: recruitment of histone demethylase RBP2 by Mad1 for transcriptional repression of a Myc target gene, telomerase reverse transcriptase.* FASEB J, 2010. **24**(2): p. 579-86.
- Liu, C., et al., The telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) gene is a direct target of the histone methyltransferase SMYD3. Cancer Res, 2007. 67(6): p. 2626-31.
- 52. Yi, X., et al., An alternate splicing variant of the human telomerase catalytic subunit inhibits telomerase activity. Neoplasia, 2000. **2**(5): p. 433-40.
- 53. Ulaner, G.A., et al., *Telomerase activity in human development is regulated by human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) transcription and by alternate splicing of hTERT transcripts.* Cancer Res, 1998. **58**(18): p. 4168-72.
- 54. Ding, D., et al., *Implications of telomere-independent activities of telomerase reverse transcriptase in human cancer.* FEBS J, 2013. **280**(14): p. 3205-11.
- 55. Park, J.I., et al., *Telomerase modulates Wnt signalling by association with target gene chromatin.* Nature, 2009. **460**(7251): p. 66-72.
- 56. Maida, Y., et al., An RNA-dependent RNA polymerase formed by TERT and the RMRP RNA. Nature, 2009. 461(7261): p. 230-5.
- 57. Ghosh, A., et al., *Telomerase directly regulates NF-kappaB-dependent transcription*. Nat Cell Biol, 2012. **14**(12): p. 1270-81.
- 58. Liu, Z., et al., *Telomerase reverse transcriptase promotes epithelialmesenchymal transition and stem cell-like traits in cancer cells.* Oncogene, 2013. **32**(36): p. 4203-13.
- 59. Huang, F.W., et al., *Highly recurrent TERT promoter mutations in human melanoma*. Science, 2013. **339**(6122): p. 957-9.
- 60. Remke, M., et al., *TERT promoter mutations are highly recurrent in SHH subgroup medulloblastoma*. Acta Neuropathol, 2013. **126**(6): p. 917-29.

- 61. Wu, S., et al., *Telomerase reverse transcriptase gene promoter mutations help discern the origin of urogenital tumors: a genomic and molecular study*. Eur Urol, 2014. **65**(2): p. 274-7.
- 62. Horn, S., et al., *TERT promoter mutations in familial and sporadic melanoma*. Science, 2013. **339**(6122): p. 959-61.
- 63. Heidenreich, B., et al., *Telomerase reverse transcriptase promoter mutations in primary cutaneous melanoma*. Nat Commun, 2014. **5**: p. 3401.
- 64. Rachakonda, P.S., et al., *TERT promoter mutations in bladder cancer* affect patient survival and disease recurrence through modification by a common polymorphism. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2013. **110**(43): p. 17426-31.
- 65. Hurst, C.D., F.M. Platt, and M.A. Knowles, *Comprehensive mutation analysis of the TERT promoter in bladder cancer and detection of mutations in voided urine*. Eur Urol, 2014. **65**(2): p. 367-9.
- 66. Nault, J.C., et al., *High frequency of telomerase reverse-transcriptase promoter somatic mutations in hepatocellular carcinoma and preneoplastic lesions.* Nat Commun, 2013. 4: p. 2218.
- 67. Vinagre, J., et al., *Frequency of TERT promoter mutations in human cancers*. Nat Commun, 2013. **4**: p. 2185.
- 68. Killela, P.J., et al., *TERT promoter mutations occur frequently in gliomas and a subset of tumors derived from cells with low rates of self-renewal.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2013. **110**(15): p. 6021-6.
- 69. Arita, H., et al., *Upregulating mutations in the TERT promoter commonly occur in adult malignant gliomas and are strongly associated with total 1p19q loss.* Acta Neuropathol, 2013. **126**(2): p. 267-76.
- 70. Liu, T., et al., *The age- and shorter telomere-dependent TERT promoter mutation in follicular thyroid cell-derived carcinomas.* Oncogene, 2013.
- 71. Reitman, Z.J., C.J. Pirozzi, and H. Yan, *Promoting a new brain tumor mutation: TERT promoter mutations in CNS tumors.* Acta Neuropathol, 2013. **126**(6): p. 789-92.
- 72. Kinde, I., et al., *TERT promoter mutations occur early in urothelial neoplasia and are biomarkers of early disease and disease recurrence in urine*. Cancer Res, 2013. **73**(24): p. 7162-7.

- 73. Allory, Y., et al., *Telomerase reverse transcriptase promoter mutations in bladder cancer: high frequency across stages, detection in urine, and lack of association with outcome.* Eur Urol, 2014. **65**(2): p. 360-6.
- 74. Liu, X., et al., *Highly prevalent TERT promoter mutations in bladder cancer and glioblastoma*. Cell Cycle, 2013. **12**(10): p. 1637-8.
- 75. Wang, K., et al., *TERT promoter mutations in renal cell carcinomas and upper tract urothelial carcinomas*. Oncotarget, 2014.
- 76. Pilati, C., et al., *Genomic Profiling of Hepatocellular Adenomas Reveals Recurrent FRK-Activating Mutations and the Mechanisms of Malignant Transformation.* Cancer Cell, 2014. **25**(4): p. 428-41.
- 77. Liu, T., et al., *The absence of TERT promoter mutations in primary gastric cancer*. Gene, 2014.
- 78. van Nistelrooij, A.M., et al., *Absence of TERT promoter mutations in esophageal adenocarcinoma*. Int J Cancer, 2014. **134**(8): p. 2014-5.
- 79. Zhao, Y., et al., Low frequency of TERT promoter somatic mutation in 313 sporadic esophageal squamous cell carcinomas. Int J Cancer, 2014. 134(2): p. 493-4.
- 80. Qu, Y., et al., *TERT promoter mutations predict worse survival in laryngeal cancer patients*. Int J Cancer, 2014.
- 81. Qu, Y., et al., Low frequency of TERT promoter mutations in a large cohort of gallbladder and gastric cancers. Int J Cancer, 2014. **134**(12): p. 2993-4.
- 82. Arita, H., et al., *TERT promoter mutations rather than methylation are the main mechanism for TERT upregulation in adult gliomas*. Acta Neuropathol, 2013. **126**(6): p. 939-41.
- 83. Killela, P.J., et al., *Mutations in IDH1, IDH2, and in the TERT promoter define clinically distinct subgroups of adult malignant gliomas.* Oncotarget, 2014.
- 84. Koelsche, C., et al., *Distribution of TERT promoter mutations in pediatric and adult tumors of the nervous system.* Acta Neuropathol, 2013. **126**(6): p. 907-15.
- 85. Nonoguchi, N., et al., *TERT promoter mutations in primary and secondary glioblastomas*. Acta Neuropathol, 2013. **126**(6): p. 931-7.

- 86. Lindsey, J.C., et al., *TERT promoter mutation and aberrant hypermethylation are associated with elevated expression in medulloblastoma and characterise the majority of non-infant SHH subgroup tumours.* Acta Neuropathol, 2014. **127**(2): p. 307-9.
- 87. Goutagny, S., et al., *High Incidence of Activating TERT Promoter Mutations in Meningiomas Undergoing Malignant Progression*. Brain Pathol, 2013.
- 88. Koelsche, C., et al., *TERT promoter hotspot mutations are recurrent in myxoid liposarcomas but rare in other soft tissue sarcoma entities.* J Exp Clin Cancer Res, 2014. **33**(1): p. 33.
- 89. Populo, H., et al., *TERT Promoter Mutations in Skin Cancer: The Effects* of Sun Exposure and X-Irradiation. J Invest Dermatol, 2014.
- 90. Egberts, F., et al., *Melanomas of unknown primary frequently harbor TERT-promoter mutations*. Melanoma Res, 2014. **24**(2): p. 131-6.
- 91. Liau JY, T.J., Jeng YM, Chu CY, Kuo KT, Liang CW, *TERT promoter mutation is uncommon in acral lentiginous melanoma*. J Cutan Pathol., 2014.
- Griewank, K.G., et al., TERT promoter mutations in ocular melanoma distinguish between conjunctival and uveal tumours. Br J Cancer, 2013. 109(2): p. 497-501.
- 93. Griewank, K.G., et al., *TERT promoter mutations are frequent in cutaneous basal cell carcinoma and squamous cell carcinoma*. PLoS One, 2013. **8**(11): p. e80354.
- 94. Scott, G.A., T.S. Laughlin, and P.G. Rothberg, *Mutations of the TERT* promoter are common in basal cell carcinoma and squamous cell carcinoma. Mod Pathol, 2014. **27**(4): p. 516-23.
- 95. Gessi, M., et al., Absence of TERT promoter mutations in primary melanocytic tumors of the central nervous system. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol, 2014.
- 96. Griewank, K.G., et al., *TERT promoter mutations are frequent in atypical fibroxanthomas and pleomorphic dermal sarcomas.* Mod Pathol, 2014. **27**(4): p. 502-8.
- 97. Liu, X., et al., TERT Promoter Mutations and Their Association with BRAF V600E Mutation and Aggressive Clinicopathological

*Characteristics of Thyroid Cancer.* J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2014: p. jc20134048.

- 98. Melo, M., et al., *TERT promoter mutations are a major indicator of poor outcome in differentiated thyroid carcinomas*. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2014: p. jc20133734.
- 99. Landa, I., et al., *Frequent somatic TERT promoter mutations in thyroid cancer: higher prevalence in advanced forms of the disease.* J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2013. **98**(9): p. E1562-6.
- 100. Liu, X., et al., *Highly prevalent TERT promoter mutations in aggressive thyroid cancers*. Endocr Relat Cancer, 2013. **20**(4): p. 603-10.
- 101. Wu RC, A.A., Maeda D, Kim KR, Clarke BA, Shaw P, Chui MH, Rosen B, Shih IeM, Wang TL, *Frequent somatic mutations of the telomerase reverse transcriptase promoter in ovarian clear cell carcinoma but not in other major types of gynaecological malignancy.* 2014.
- 102. Ruden, M. and N. Puri, *Novel anticancer therapeutics targeting telomerase*. Cancer Treat Rev, 2013. **39**(5): p. 444-56.
- 103. Smith PW, S.L., et al., *Thyroid*. 2012.
- 104. Xing, M., Molecular pathogenesis and mechanisms of thyroid cancer, in Nat Rev Cancer2013. p. 184-99.
- 105. McHenry, C.R. and R. Phitayakorn, *Follicular adenoma and carcinoma of the thyroid gland*. Oncologist, 2011. **16**(5): p. 585-93.
- Smallridge, R.C. and J.A. Copland, *Anaplastic thyroid carcinoma: pathogenesis and emerging therapies*. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol), 2010. 22(6): p. 486-97.
- 107. Pacini, F., et al., *Medullary thyroid carcinoma*. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol), 2010. **22**(6): p. 475-85.
- 108. Wang, T.C., J.G. Fox, and A.S. Giraud, *The biology of gastric cancers*. 2009, New York ; London: Springer. xxii, 646 p.
- 109. Wang, D. and R.N. Dubois, *Cyclooxygenase-2: a potential target in breast cancer*. Semin Oncol, 2004. **31**(1 Suppl 3): p. 64-73.
- 110. Sobolewski, C., et al., *The role of cyclooxygenase-2 in cell proliferation and cell death in human malignancies.* Int J Cell Biol, 2010. **2010**: p. 215158.

- 111. Wu, W.K., et al., Cyclooxygenase-2 in tumorigenesis of gastrointestinal cancers: an update on the molecular mechanisms. Cancer Lett, 2010. 295(1): p. 7-16.
- 112. Khan, Z., et al., *Biology of Cox-2: an application in cancer therapeutics*. Curr Drug Targets, 2011. **12**(7): p. 1082-93.
- 113. Chung, L.Y., et al., *Galectin-1 promotes lung cancer progression and chemoresistance by upregulating p38 MAPK, ERK, and cyclooxygenase-*2. Clin Cancer Res, 2012. **18**(15): p. 4037-47.
- 114. Foukakis, T., et al., *Molecular cytogenetic characterization of primary cultures and established cell lines from non-medullary thyroid tumors*. Int J Oncol, 2005. **26**(1): p. 141-9.
- 115. Henke, W., et al., *Betaine improves the PCR amplification of GC-rich DNA sequences*. Nucleic Acids Res, 1997. **25**(19): p. 3957-8.
- 116. Niedringhaus, T.P., et al., *Landscape of next-generation sequencing technologies*. Anal Chem, 2011. **83**(12): p. 4327-41.
- 117. Cawthon, R.M., *Telomere measurement by quantitative PCR*. Nucleic Acids Res, 2002. **30**(10): p. e47.
- 118. Slijepcevic, P., *Telomere length measurement by Q-FISH*. Methods Cell Sci, 2001. **23**(1-3): p. 17-22.
- 119. Livak, K.J. and T.D. Schmittgen, *Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method.* Methods, 2001. **25**(4): p. 402-8.
- 120. Katsukawa, M., et al., *Citral, a component of lemongrass oil, activates PPARalpha and gamma and suppresses COX-2 expression.* Biochim Biophys Acta, 2010. **1801**(11): p. 1214-20.
- 121. Workman, P., et al., *Guidelines for the welfare and use of animals in cancer research*. Br J Cancer, 2010. **102**(11): p. 1555-77.
- 122. Dinets, A., et al., *Clinical, genetic, and immunohistochemical characterization of 70 Ukrainian adult cases with post-Chornobyl papillary thyroid carcinoma.* Eur J Endocrinol, 2012. **166**(6): p. 1049-60.
- 123. Liu, L., et al., Activation of telomerase by seminal plasma in malignant and normal cervical epithelial cells. J Pathol, 2011. **225**(2): p. 203-11.

- 124. Sun, H., et al., P38 MAPK mediates COX-2 gene expression by corticosterone in cardiomyocytes. Cell Signal, 2008. 20(11): p. 1952-9.
- 125. Gauthier, M.L., et al., *p38 regulates cyclooxygenase-2 in human mammary epithelial cells and is activated in premalignant tissue.* Cancer Res, 2005. **65**(5): p. 1792-9.
- 126. Regalo, G., et al., *C/EBPbeta is over-expressed in gastric carcinogenesis* and is associated with COX-2 expression. J Pathol, 2006. **210**(4): p. 398-404.
- 127. Tenhunen, O., et al., *Identification of cell cycle regulatory and inflammatory genes as predominant targets of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase in the heart.* Circ Res, 2006. **99**(5): p. 485-93.
- 128. Schieven, G.L., *The p38alpha kinase plays a central role in inflammation*. Curr Top Med Chem, 2009. **9**(11): p. 1038-48.
- 129. Tauchi, T., et al., *Telomerase inhibition with a novel G-quadruplex-interactive agent, telomestatin: in vitro and in vivo studies in acute leukemia.* Oncogene, 2006. **25**(42): p. 5719-25.
- 130. Zhang, X., et al., *Telomere shortening and apoptosis in telomerase-inhibited human tumor cells*. Genes Dev, 1999. **13**(18): p. 2388-99.
- 131. Cao, Y., et al., *TERT regulates cell survival independent of telomerase enzymatic activity*. Oncogene, 2002. **21**(20): p. 3130-8.
- 132. Hahn, W.C., et al., *Inhibition of telomerase limits the growth of human cancer cells*. Nat Med, 1999. **5**(10): p. 1164-70.
- 133. Harley, C.B., *Telomerase and cancer therapeutics*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2008. **8**(3): p. 167-79.
- 134. Shay, J.W. and W.N. Keith, *Targeting telomerase for cancer therapeutics*. Br J Cancer, 2008. **98**(4): p. 677-83.